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The City Hall Historic District contains 71 structures, including 20 which are 
architecturally significant, 30 which, although they are not very significant in 
themselves, complement the district as a whole, and 21 which detract from the district. 
20 of the buildings in the area are modern, including 5 which are compatible with the 
area and 15 which intrude in the district. The .71 buildings are at present used for 
commercial, residential, governmental, 'educational, industrial, religious, entertainment 
and park purposes.

In Mie numerical ordershown on the attached sketch map, the first architecturally 
significant building is the C,ojmercial/B.esid©n.tial building (#9); at 163-169 Worthen 
Street. This 3 story Italianate brick building (c.1875) has a bracketed cornice, 
brick stringcourses, arched"lintels, and cast iron columns across the ground floor , 
facade. The Wortheiu; Street Methodist-Episcopal Church, also significant architeqlhirally, 
(#11) is a large clapboard Greek Revival, .ghurch, gable end to the street, with wooden 
pilasters at each corner. Constructed in 1842, the building is now used as a Girl's 
Club. The double-frame house (#12) next door is also a Greek Revival (c.l840}_ 
structure, 2h stories high with clapboards. The Worthejl Street Baptist Church, (#13) 
across the street is a brick Romana,saue*Ba¥Aval church, built in 1890. It has cranite 
stringcourses and lintels, arched windows, and some elaborate brickwork, and sandstone 
carving/ but was gutted by fire in 1972. It is out of scale with the other residential 
building,s__on Worthen; Street, but is still a fine structure. The Whistler House (#16) 
is an'>4.i23^ederal style 2h story clapboard residence with a granite foundation. The 
bracketed porch hood was added later, and the house fits in well tzith the neighborhood.

On Button Street, the district includes the York Club (#20), a large 3 story brick 
Italianate structure built c. 1825. The building has a flat roof, an elaborate bracketei 
cornice and an arched lintel over each window ,  >»A

The Old Lowell Gas Light Company Office (#30) is another important building in the 
district. The Most significant building on Shattuck Street, it is a,2h story brick 
commercial building, with tall first floor windows topped by arched lintels and over­ 
sized keystones. The arched lintels and keystones are repeated in the second floor 
windows and in the hood dormers, and the cornice is supported by a Romanesque corbel 
table.

St. Anne's Rectory (#33) on Kirk Street, an asset to the area, is a 2h story Greek 
Revival residence built from stone taken from the Merrimackb Canal excavations in 1825. 
Two doric columns support a porch with full entablature. The Linus Childs House (#43) f 
farther down Kirk Street is a 2h story brick Greek Revival row house, with two fine 
restrained classical entrances and dormer windows on one-half of the building.

Lee Street Church (#46) is a simple stone and brick Gothic Revival bui,lding, constructed 
in 1850, backing onto the Don Marche (#47) which is a large 5 story white painted 
brick commercial structure in the high Victorian/Italianate style (c.1831-1870). 
Actually two buildings, the high arched windows, pilasters and a heavy cornice tie 
the whole composition together. The Wells Block (#48) next door to the Bon Marche/
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is a simple, handsome 4 story brick commercial building, extending around the corner 
of Merrimack and Kirk Streets, The window treatments are simple, the cornice restrained 
and the roof curves to follow the line of the facade. The Old City Hall (#49), 
farther along Merrimack Street, was built in 1830 as Lowell's first Town Hall* 
Designed by Kirk Boott, this brick building has been altered to suit its changing 
functions. In the 1890's a third floor was added to accomraoilate commercial uses and 
various decorative pediments and panels were applied to the facades.

St* Anne's Episcopal Church (#50), across the street from the Old City Hall, was 
built in 1824-25 of stone in the Gothic Revival style*. The pointed arches and 
crenellated tower make it a good early example of this style. The Wentworth Block 
(#53?) next to the Old City Hall is a good example of the type of commercial structures 
in the district. Built in the 1840's, this plain brick building has a fourth floor 
mansard roof, added late in the century.

Across the street from the Wentworth Block is the Merrimack Canal Gate House, 
a one story brick structure which houses the water ducts that allow water to flow 
under Moody Street and connect the Western and Merrimack Canals The windows on the 
long facade are arched; an elaborate brick cornice supports the shingle roof.

The focal point of the district is the Lowell City Hall and nearby Memorial Hall 
on MerrUmack Street. Lowell City Hall (#57) is a large rusticated granite Richard- 
sonian Romanesque building, constructed in 1893. Romanesque arches, dormer windows, 
carved granite decoration, bowed windows and steep shingled roof, set off by a tower 
180 feet high, make this a striking building. Memorial Hall (#59), built the same 
year as the City Hall, is also a monumental Richardsonian Romanesque granite building. 
The massive roof, bays, arches and dormers of Memorial Hall echo the features of the 
City Hall.

Other structures which are important to the district but which are not significant 
enough by themselves to describe individually include 14 commercial buildings, 
1 restaurant, 11 residential structures, 1 school and 3 clubs, The commercial and 
residential structures are the backbone of the district, typifying the style, mass, 
and function of buildings in one of the important industrial towns of 19th century 
America s Most of these buildings are less important examples of the building styles 
which are architecturally significant in the district,

i '
21 of the buildings in the district are incompatible with the rest of the buildings 
in the district. These include six 19th century buildings (#23,35,38,39,52,64) which 
have been greatly altered or are out of scale with the other structures, and 15 
modern buildings which are of incompatible design or mass.

Many of the buildings in the district need restoration and regular maintenance, but 
the buildings in general exhibit a notable cohesiven^s Hopefully the area can be 
revitalized and restored to the prosperous condition the tawn once knew.
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The City Hall District, containing examples of all eras of the city's development, is 
the commerical and governmental center of the city considered among the leaders of 
the mid-19th p;entury Industrial Revolution in the United States. At the time of 
the founding of the mill community, a social, economical and political structure based. 
upon the factory system and corporation housing, the City Hall District was the center 
of city development. In essence the majority of the buildings were built during the 
early and most important years of Lowell 's history and are examples of early commercial, 
governmental, residential, educational and relgg.ious structures. Lowell prospered 
with its mills and the workers depended upon the district for thdbc'.-needs other than 
those for which the mill owners were responsible. The district is made up of two 
elements: those buildings directly responsible to the mills such as housing, and those 
dependent upon the mills such as the governmental, commercial and religious structures.

Town Hall (#49) was the first local governmental structure. Built in 1830 and later 
altered, it was designed by Kirk Boott, one of the city ' s founders . The land it is 
upon was purchased from the Locks and Canals Corporation for the expressed purpose 
of building a governmental structure. In 1893 its political purpose ended with the 
completion of Lowell City Hall (#57) . Prior to construction, an international archi- 
itectural competition was held in order to obtain the best possib'le design for the 
building., Designed by j^r-asil! and Cutler, the building is construc'ted of Conway 
granite and decorated with a tower 180 feet high. The total construction cost was 
$350,000. In 1971 an addition to City Hall was completed with the construction of the 
J.P.K. Civic Center (#26),

Commercial structures vary in dates from the mid-1820's to the present. One of the 
arliest, the Bank Block (#56) served as both a commercial and residential structure 
nd dates back to 1826. /In 1840, the Old Worthed Tavern (#6) was added to the area 

a?cmo.inc.a ui'mhuiKj ted IUJLli 13D yuaitj,') A few years later the Lowell Institution
for Savings (#28) was built, erved as the area's first savings bank, and remains so 
presently. When gas lighting became popular, the Old Lowell Gas Light Company Offices
(#30) came into existence. About the same time the J,C. Ayer building (#61) was built, 
Probably the largest commercial structure was the oldest section of the Bon Marche 
building (#47) constructed in the 1830 's. Two other commerical blocks were built in 
the 1840 's similar to each other and to building #30. These are the Wells Block
(#48) and the Wentworth Block (#51) . Around 1850 the Kimball Sign Company building 
was constructed (#62) . In the late 1870 's and throughout the 1880 's began a commercial 
and residential brick building boom in Lowell. Some of these structures include the 
Gates Block (#8) 1881, the Mack Building (#31) 1886, the Mathias Hart Building (#29) 
in the late nineteenth century, and the Mitchell Block .(#35) in the 1880 's.
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Lowell's oldest church, St. .Anne's Episcopal ^#50) was built in 1824-1825 by the 
errimack Manufacturing Company to provide religious services for the mill operatives. 
e structure was designed by Kirk Boott in the Gothic style 4»iniilai Lu liib homb 
jfl eh 1.11 Dii'Liy", England1 and named after his wife. The reofcbry (#33) was built in 

1825 of stone from the Merrimack Canal exca)vations. Another mill workers' church 
was the Worthen Street Methodist Episcopal (#11) constructed in 1842. The Lee Street 
Church (#46) was built in 1850 to serve Kirk, Lee and Paige Street residents along 
with those from Anne Street (now Lucy Larcom Parkway) The Worthen Street Baptist 
Church ('#13) was constructed in 1888-1889 on the site of the first Baptist Church 
built in 1838 and destroyed by fire in 1887. In the twentieth century the Greek 
community obtained the building and renamed it St. George's Orthodox Church; it served 
as the districts* community Greek church, along with Holy Trinity, until being gutted 
by fire in 1972 .

Many buildings 'n the district are directly related to the mills as either private 
or boarding type residences for mill owners, agents and workers The most famous 
residence in Lowell is the Whistler or Moody House (#16) on Worthen Street. Built 
in 1823 from designs by Kirk Boott, the home was originally that of Paul Moody, the 
agent for the Locks and Canals Machine Shop. Major George Whistler followed Moody 

I jas the agent and :'.t was here that his son, James Abbott McNeil Whistler, the inter- 
\ ationally known artist, was born. .-ArojjUJcl 18(&>£ the Merrimack Manufacturing Company 

a brick structure used as ati"g^oo¥ house f e-a? wi. ts 1 1 i n g d L y 1 1 1 Ldi'i y bj a" J! ill !J f u fcjff-
"ftul JeMiHtf . Now the Yorick Club (#20), it is the\last remaining residential structure 
of the first manufacturing company of Lowell, ana^-is-~aii--example of the exclusive 
type of residence local mill owners used to illustrate their success. At 19 Paige 
Street ?.s a brick rooming house (£44) built in the 1830 's that is typical of the 
housing often used for mill workers. Another exc..aple of such housing, also built in 
the 1330 "s is the rooming house (#19) on Worthen Street, Three examples of the 
1840 f s are buildings #40, #41, and #42 on Kirk Street still used as residences. The 
Linus Child House (#43^ is a typical mill agents* residence of the 1840 s constructed 
for agents of the Boott and Massachusetts Companies.

A different type of workers' house is the double frame house (#12) on Worthen Street. 
This 1840 building is an outstanding example of the wooden houses used by the mill 
workers in the 1840 's and 1850 r s. It is representative of the housing that once lined 
Worthen Street and other streets in the district, especially on Anne Street. Later 
residences, typified by structure #3 (on Cardinal O'Connell Parkway) are four or five 
story tenements usually occupied by semi-skilled or unskilled laborers

Another structure somewhat related to the mills but more directly to the canal system 
is the gate house (#53) . Built in 1848, it has been acclaimed as being a perfectly 
proportioned building. It was constructed to control the flow of water through
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the Moody Street feeder (underground) , to the Merrimack Canal to provide additional 
power to the Merrimack Manufacturing Company. At present, it remains as it was 
in 1848,

Three educational buildings in the district are significant. The Green School (#60) 
built in 1880 replaced the original school built for the operatives of the manufacturing 
companies. The 1880 structure was the elementary school for the middle class in the 
Mood'H-Worthen-Anne-Kirk Street area Frederick V, Stickney designed the other two 
buildings In 1892, constructed of yellow brick/ the high school (#38) opened upon 
the original site of the first co-educational high school in the United States. 
Stickney ( s greatest achievement was Memorial Hall (#59) completed in 1893 Designed 
and constructed in the Richardsonian Romanesque style, it is compatible with the City 
Hall (#57) as both are of the same material, but offers some contrast in window and 
elaboration design. Costing $175,000, it honors Lowell soldiers and sailors who 
served in the Civil War.

The City Hall District is rich in its buildings that represent city development 
since 1823v However, its main importance is that it is a total community within 
a seventy-one building district and represents city planning, experimentation, and the 
^>del of the way of life in one of the most important nineteenth century cities in 
the United States.
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IW^IOSQ- Bank Block Addition
1880 Giavis Market
1875 Residential/Commercial
mod Marie's Oyster House
mod. -.^^.Duinmer Street Garage

'^Ifi/S^wkJJie Old Worthen
mod Povey's Auto Service and

Supply
1881 Gates Block
1870-80 Commercial/Residential
1850 Rooming House

       ifttjS    Worlhen Street Metnodis"C=   
Euijjtiu'eal CUujLtli W0 LfH6^

1840 Double Frame House
 * f^df\ ^ "fcf -*- * rt 1 B ft wtfij /r'^' '^'*ln ^

1850 Residence
mod Massachusetts Electric

Company Power Station
1823 Whistler House
modft£0 Parker Gallery
1850 Greek Youth Club
1830' s Brick Rooming House

C \&V$ iOgft * Yorick Club
ritoft&S^S&'s Masonic Temple iu**9tgcb

mod Club Ciner »£MAOjUjto \Wo'$ 
\W& liOO'li Former Knight lof Colurabus

mod Merrimack Rug and Linoleum
Company

mod Haffner's Gas Station

2-10 Cardinal O'Connell Pkwy.
20-28 . Cardinal O'Connell Pkwy.
31-33 Cardinal O'Connell Pkwy.
60-64 Dumraer Street
70 Dummer Street
141-147 Worthen St.

152 Worthen St.
160 Worthen Street
163-169 Worthen St.
205 Worthen St.

-250 Worthen St.

222-224X ^orthen Street
-325 &T Worthen St.
228 Worthen St.

236 Worthen St.
243 Worthen St.
243 (rear) Worthen St.
266 Worthen St.
284-286 4 Worthen St.
31 Dutton St.
79 Dutton St.- 6iv.f>e^zr^DaA)S
143 Dutton St. 
161-175 Dutton St.

177-183 Dutton St.
215 Dutton St.

mod John F. Kennedy Civic Center 50 Arcand Drive
mod Professional Park
18$ Lowell Institution for

Savings
186O-80 Mathias Hart
i860 Old Lowell Gas Light

Company Offices
1886 The Mack Building
1830 St. Anne's Sexton's

Quarters
1825 St. Anne's Rectory
c.1950 St. Anne's Parish Hall
1880 Mitchell Block
mod,. Pc» 'Ben Marche Addition
1840 Rooming House
l892/1922r Lowell High School
1880' s AHEPA
1840 's Corporation House

75 Arcand Drive

18 Shattuck St.
11-13 Shattuck St.

22-26 Shattuck St.
25 Shattuck St.

13 Lucy Larcom Pkwy.
8 Kirk Street
10 Kirk Street
11-17 Kirk Street
21-27 Kirk Street
29 Kirk Street /
30 Kirk Street f . STT6KNitr
31 Kirk Street- $&<>, oMvir
45 Kirk Street
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1840*s Rooming House
I840*s Corporation Housing
1840*s The Linus Child House
I8^$*s Rooming House
1844N Qerperatitfl
1850 Lee Street Church
l&jft/T* Bon Marche
1840*s Wells Block
lOJflr Old City Hall
1829 St. Anne's Episcopal Church
1840*s Wentworth Block
2.1090   YMCA
1848 Merrimack Canal Gate House

mod. Merit Gas
mod. Goodyear Tire Co.
1826 Bank Block
1893 Lowell City Hall
1884 First Congregational Church
1893 City Library/Memorial Hall
1880 Green School
I860 J.C. Ayer Building
1850 Kimball Sign Company
mod. Residence
19 Hi c?*Lowell Medical Instrument

Company
1950 Lowell Council on Aging 
1840 Residential/Commercial 
mod. Parkway Lounge 
c.1850 Residential/Commercial 
mod. Independent Cash Market 
mod. Hellenic American School 

of Holy Trinity Greek 
Orthodox Church 

mod. Lowell High School
Power House

- "

47 Kirk Street
49 Kirk Street
63-67 Kirk St.
19 Paige St.
29-31 Paige St.
37-39 Lee St.
37-39 Merrimack St
171-179 Merrimack St
218-236 Merrimack St
237 Merrimack St
254-262 Merrimcak St.
268-272 Merrimack Street

	Corner of Merrimack 
	and Dutton Streets 

302 Merrimack St. 
336 Merrimack St. 
350-376 Merrimack Street 
395 Merrimack 
400 Merrimcak St. - 
407-415 Merrimack St. f. 
408 Merrimack St. 
176-190 Middle St.-FU^P 
192-194 Middle St. 
200 Middle St.

245-249 Market St.
32- Markst St.
338-344 Market St.
350-352 Market St.
338-344 Market St.
366-374 Market Street

41-61 Broadway St. 

43 French St.
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Old City Hall

Built in 1829-30 from plans by the Boston architect Isaiah Rogers, Lowell's Old City 
Hall is situated at the northeast corner of Merrimack and Shattuck Streets. It is 
three-and-one-half starfes tall and is of a rectangular plan. Its northern and western 
walls are formally finished in red pressed brick laid in stretcher bond. The bricks 
of the eastern and southern walls are laid in common bond. A "date stone" of pressed 
sheet metal in the center of the Merrimack facade proclaims "Old City Hall Building 
1830-1896." The ridge roof is covered in slate shingles. Visible atop the roof are 
the lower portions of paired chimneys.

During the 1896 renovation,, the Merrimack facade 1 s upper floor gained narrow windows 
at each end and flanking the central window, and a pediment-like central gable set 
with an ornate fan light.

Notable interior features date primarily from 1896 and include pressed metal ceilings, 
varnished trim, hardwood flooring, and plaster walls.

The mix of structural systems and periodic alterations have caused deflections in 
floor framing and brick walls.

Although its northern and western walls were adorned in 1896 with a plethora of 
Georgian Revival panels and pediments, the building's Greek Revival origins are still 
evident in its massing. Originally Old City Hall (then called the Town House) had 
granite piers and the lintels on the ground floor. Presently the store fronts have 
large display windows enframed with enameled metal panels. A few elements of late 
nineteenth-century cast iron store fronts are still visible beneath the current 
treatment. A one-story addition was added to the southern facade in 1896. A similar 
addition projecting from the western facade post dates 1896.

Penelope Batcheler, Historical Structures Report, Architectural Data, 
Old City Hall Lowell National Historical Park, Lowell, Massachusetts, prepared for 
Denver Service Center, National Park Service, U. S. Department of the Interior, 
Denver, Colorado, 1979, p.16.

The Agents' House Bldg. #43

Built 1845-46, the Agents' House at the northeastern corner of Kirk and Paige Streets 
is a brick block approximately 91' x 38' > Each half of this Greek Revival double , 
house has two stories plus garret and basement. To the rear of each half is a rec­ 
tangular two-story-plus-basement brick tower approximately 7' by 27'« To the rear of 
the southern brick tower is a late-nineteenth-century two-story-plus-basement wood 
frame addition approximately 31' x 26'.

The Agents' House is set on a: high granite basement. The main (Kirk Street) facade's 
fenestration is highly symmetrical. Sills, lintels, and trabeated doorways are 
composed of brownstone. The cornice, with its unornamented, projecting freize
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and brick dentils adds a decorative touch to an otherwise severe building. This 
building culminates in parapet-linked double chimneys at the end walls and at the 
center of the roof.

The exterior has been altered by the disappearance of dormer windows and slate shingles 
from the northern portion of the roof. 1 The exterior brick work is in fair condition. 
The brownstone trim has greatly deteriorated.

Post 1920 nonresidential needs resulted in extensive interior alterations. Originally 
two rooms, rather than a single large room, flanked the central halls on the first and 
second floors. Third floor partitions are in place on the southern half only; the 
northern half has been gutted by fire.2 The most significant change to the original 
interior design occurred when the party, wall was broken through on three of the four 
levels.

The southern unit has the most nineteenth-century interior detail, e.g., white and 
black marble fireplaces, shutters, and ceiling medallions ornamented with plaster 
acanthus leaves.

A boiler plant adjacent stack was built on the eastern portion of the original site 
around 1922.

John Robbins, Boott Cotton Mills and Massachusetts Cotton Mills Agents' Houses 
67 and 63 Kirk Street, Lowell National Historical Park, Lowell, Middlesex County, 
Massachusetts, prepared for the Denver Service Center, National Park Service, U. S. 
Department of the Interior, Denver, Colorado, October, 1979. n.p.

2 
ibid. n.p. The fire occurred after 1931.

 3

(Draft) Archeological Resource Study, Lowell National Historical Park , N.P.S., 
1979, p. 80
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Old City Hall

Though much changed in 150 years, Old City Hail; is a major landmark in Lowell and 
provides a significant contrast to the "new" City Hall of 1893, just two blocks away. 
The sharp differences between the two in size, scale, siting, materials, decoration 
and style speaks eloquently of the growth of Lowell in its first century. Much altered 
over the years, the various phases of this government/commercial building's stylistic 
and structural evolution are easily "read" from an examination of its current exterior 
appearance. The original facade of the structure was the first in Lowell to show, how­ 
ever simply, the growing influence of Greek Revivalism .

Isaiah Rogers, architect of America's first "modern hotel," Boston's Tremont House 
(1830), provided the plans for the Old City Hall2 . Kirk Boott, the colorful agent of 
the Merrimack Manufacturing Company, played an important role in the selection of 
this building's site^. Henry Clay, Daniel Webster, Edgar Allan Poe, John Quincy Adams, 
and Abraham Lincoln delivered speeches in this building's Town Meeting Hall^.

The Old City Hall is significant as the birthplace of Lowell f s patent medicine 
industry. The nationally known Father John's Medicine was initially produced (1855) 
in Carlton and Hovey's Drug Store which occupied the northwestern corner of this 
building from 1830 - 1848 and 1854 - 19135 .

Robert Weible, Old City Hall, Lowell, Massachusetts, and Its Surrounding Properties,p.4.

2 
Penelope H. Batcheler, Historical Structures Report, Architectural Data Old City Hall,
Lowell National Historical Park, Lowell, Massachusetts, prepared for Denver Service 
Center, National Park Service, U. S. Department of the Interior, 1977 p. 16.

3 Robert Weible, Old City Hall, Lowell, Massachusetts, and Its Surrounding Properties, p.3.

4ibid. p. 6.

Shepley, Bulfinch, Richardson and Abbott, Lowell National Historical Park and 
Preservation District Cultural Resource Inventory. Lee Street through Merrill Street 
Volume, listed under 73-91 Market Street. 1979.

Agents House

From 1845 until 1901 the Agents' House at 63 and 67 Kirk Street was a prestigious 
corporate address in Lowell. This double house is significant because it reflects 
the close corporate association shared by two major Lowell textile manufacturing 
companies during the later half of the nineteenth century. The Boott Cotton Mills and 
the Massachusetts Cotton Mills erected this building (1845-46) to provide living 
quarters for their agents.-'- A mill agent "was responsible for everything concerned with 
output, including, of course, the housing and the relationship of the corporation to 
the town."2
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The Boott Mills' agent, Linus Child, was the first resident of 67 Kirk Street3 , 
Homer Bartlett, the Massachusetts Cotton Mills' agent (1839-1849) and treasurer 
(1849-1872) supervised construction of the Agents' House^. He resided at 63 Kirk 
Street from 1846-18605 .

Abraham Lincoln spent the night of September 16, 1848, as the guest of either Child 
or Bartlett. The Illinois congressman had appeared at the nearby City Hall as the 
guest speaker at a Whig rally for Zachary Taylor .

The Boott Mill Agent Alexander Cumnock resided at 67 Kirk Street from 1872 until 
1885'. Cumnock was a prominent Lowell business and civic leader during the late-nine­ 
teenth and early-twentieth centuries. While in his seventies and eighties he directed 
the successful effort to rebuild the Appleton Company (1898-1919) and was a founder 
of Lowell Textile School, later Lowell University°.

James H. Rand, a local architect, designed the Agents' House9 . Rand attained notoriety 
as the architect of Lowell ! s "remarkable and controversial" granite Romanesque/ 
Italianate county jail (1856).-^ The architectural significance of the Agents' 
House lies in the unusually early employment of brownstone for sills, lintels, and 
trabeated doorways. Brownstone did not become a fashionable, widely used American 
building material until the 1850's.

Significant interior finishes are located in the southern portion of the duplex.

Archeological deposits around the structure, particularly in the rear, are likely to 
contain information to our understanding of historic period modifications to the 
structure. In addition, deposits of trash and other materials probably contain 
important information about the social and economic life in Lowell during the 
nineteenth and early-twentieth centuries.

Robbins, John, Historical Structure Report, Architectural Data, Boott" Cotton Mills and 
Massachusetts Mills Agents' Houses 67 and 63 Kirk Street, n.p.

2 Coolidge, John Phillips, Mill and Mansion, A Study of Architecture and Society in
Lowell Massachusetts, 1820-1865. Columbia University Press, New York. Reissued: 
Russell and Russell, New York, 1967, p. 167

3 Robbins, John, Historical Structure Report, Architectural Data, Boott Cotton Mills and
Massachusetts Mills Agents' Houses 67 and 63 Kirk Street, prepared for Denver Service 
Center, National Park Service, U. S. Department of the Interior, Denver, Colorado, 
October 1979, n.p.

ibid, n.p. 

ibid, n.p.
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10

11

Eno, Arthur L., Jr. Cotton Was King, A History of Lowell, Massachusetts, New Hampshire 
Publishing Company, Manchester, New Hampshire, 1976, p. 244.

i 
Robbins, John Historical Structures Report, etc. n.p.

Shepley, Bulfinch, Richardson and Abbott, Report, Lowell National Historical Park 
and Preservation District Cultural Resource Inventory, prepared for Division of 
Cultural Resources, North Atlantic Regional Office, National Park Service, p. 112.

) 
Robbins, John, Historical Structure Report, etc., n.p.

Eno, Arthur L., Jr., Cotton Was King, A History of Lowell, Massachusetts, New 
Hampshire Publishing Company, Manchester, New Hampshire 1976, p. 167.

Fiero, Kathleen and Ken LaCoste


